BI Norwegian Business School - campus Oslo

GRA 19703

Master Thesis

Thesis Master of Science

How do payment methods and other deal characteristics affect abnormal returns?

A comparison of "high-tech" versus "non-high-tech" industries in the European M&A market.

Navn:	Martin Tømte Strat, Sokol Zekiri
Start:	15.01.2019 09.00
Finish:	01.07.2019 12.00

Master Thesis

How do payment methods and other deal characteristics affect abnormal returns?

A comparison of "high-tech" versus "non-high-tech" industries in the European M&A market.

Hand-in date: 01.07.2019

Campus: BI Oslo

Supervisor: Samuli Knüpfer

Program: Master of Science in Business with Major in Finance

This thesis is a part of the MSc program at BI Norwegian Business School. The school takes no responsibility for the methods used, results found, and conclusions drawn.

Table of contents

ABSTRACTIII
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND MOTIVATION1
1.1 Hypothesis
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 PAYMENT METHODS, ABNORMAL RETURNS, AND BID PREMIUMS
2.2 Other Potential Determinants of Abnormal returns in M&A transactions
2.3 HIGH-TECH TARGET ABNORMAL RETURNS
3.0 THEORY
3.1 Efficient Market Hypothesis (EMH)10
3.2 WINNER'S CURSE AND HUBRIS HYPOTHESIS
4.0 DATA AND DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS 11
4.1 CLASSIFICATION OF DATA
5.0 METHODOLOGY
5.1 Measuring abnormal returns
5.1.1 Are abnormal returns higher for cash-financed acquisitions, and do high-tech targets
experience higher abnormal returns?
5.1.2 Is the bid premium higher for all cash-financed acquisitions, compared to stock-
financed acquisitions?17
5.1.3 Are abnormal returns higher for the high-tech industry, and can R&D expenses and
Intangible Assets explain potential differences?
5.2 IMPORTANT DIAGNOSTICS FOR VALID RESULTS
5.2.1 Endogeneity
6.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS
6.1 THE EFFECT OF FINANCING CHOICE ON ABNORMAL RETURNS
6.2 DIFFERENCES IN PREMIUM PAID
6.3 Abnormal returns in high-tech industries
6.3.1 Can R&D expenses and Intangible Assets explain the higher CAR in high-tech target
transactions?
7.0 CONCLUSION
8.0 LIMITATIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH
9.0 APPENDIXES
1. CORRELATION MATRIX (FULL SAMPLE)
2. VIF (FULL SAMPLE)

10.	0 BIBLIOGRAPHY	. 39
,	7. VALUE-WEIGHTED COUNTRY-SPECIFIC INDEXES	. 37
(6. VIF (HIGH-TECH TARGETS SUB-SAMPLE)	. 36
	5. CORRELATION MATRIX (HIGH-TECH TARGETS SUB-SAMPLE)	. 35
4	4. VIF (Full sample, Bid premium)	. 34
	3. CORRELATION MATRIX (FULL SAMPLE, BID PREMIUM)	. 33

Abstract

This master thesis investigates whether payment method affects the target company's cumulative abnormal return (CAR), if the premium paid is larger for cash-financed acquisitions, and if Research and Development (R&D) expense and intangible assets can explain CAR for high-tech target companies. We use a dataset of 463 European M&A transactions, between 2000 and 2018, and a sub-sample of 73 high-tech transactions within the same time period. To investigate our chosen research questions, we use a standard event study methodology with countryspecific value-weighted indexes in addition to specified regression models for each question. Our results indicate that cash as a payment method is superior to stock when examining CAR for target shareholders. These findings are supported by other researchers based on data from the US M&A market. In contrast to previous research, we find no relationship between higher bid premiums and payment method. Further, we find that high-tech targets experience higher CAR, compared to companies in other industries. Using a sub-sample of high-tech targets, we find that targets with higher R&D expenses experience higher CAR. However, intangible assets as an explanatory variable is insignificant when regressed against CAR. We argue that this might be due to the difficulty in valuing intangible assets, and the leeway firms have when it comes to reporting their real value.

1.0 Introduction and motivation

Overview

The number of mergers and acquisitions (M&As) in Europe has increased significantly from 2000 to 2018 compared to 1982 to 2000 (Statista, 2019; IMMA, 2019). The high-tech industry has also grown both by number of transactions and value of transactions (IMMA, 2019), increasing this industry's importance in the M&A literature. Moreover, Berk and Demarzo (2017, p. 994) argue that due to the money at stake and the complexity of the deals, decisions concerning M&A are some of the most important decisions financial managers make. Even though M&As are one of the most researched areas in finance, the majority of previous literature is based on old data from the US market. Hence, research based on recent data could contribute with relevant findings to the existing literature on the European M&A market.

This thesis will investigate the target firm announcement-period abnormal returns following M&A transactions involving European targets. The firm initiating the takeover is referred to as the "bidding" firm or "acquirer," while the "target" firm is the object of interest. The total sample of 463 completed transactions between 2000 and 2018 consists of European targets characterized as "high-tech" and "non-hightech" by SDC Platinum. Further, we use a high-tech sample of 175 transactions and a sub-sample of 73 high-tech target transactions with available data on R&D expenses and intangible assets to investigate high-tech target CAR. High-tech classifications include areas such as biotechnology, chemicals, communications, computers, defense, electronics, medicals, and pharmaceuticals, among others. We calculate abnormal returns as the difference between the actual return and the expected market return, based on country-specific value-weighted indexes. To test which factors might affect the abnormal returns around the announcement day, we include explanatory variables based on previous literature. Two high-tech specific explanatory variables, research and development (R&D) expenses and intangible assets, are included to explain possible differences between industries further.

Background

✤ Cash versus stock

When a bidder makes an offer to acquire a target firm, either cash, stocks, or a combination of these two can be offered as payment. Most scholars seem to agree that the wealth creation in M&As almost exclusively accrues to the shareholders of target firms (Datta, Piches & Narayanam, 1992). Other researchers argue that the target firm shareholders earn even more significant abnormal returns when receiving cash rather than stocks (Travlos, 1987). However, there are various findings in the literature concerning stock transactions. Studies such as Wansley, Lane, and Yang (1987), Franks, Harris, and Mayer (1988), and Servaes (1991) either report significantly negative or positive returns for both parties in stock-financed transactions. Interestingly, fewer studies examine the effect of payment method on the high-tech target shareholders' abnormal returns around the announcement day in the European market.

✤ Bid premium

Takeover premium is known to be the difference between the target's market price and the actual price paid to acquire it. Bid premium represents the increased cost of buying a target company, and this premium amount is affected by different factors according to the existing literature. Davidson and Cheng (1997) found that target shareholders received larger bid premiums from bidders in cash transactions compared to stocks. In contrast, Suk and Sung (1997) found no significant difference in premiums between cash and stock transactions. Other researchers also suggest that bid premiums tend to be higher in tender offers compared to mergers (Eckbo, 2009). Moreover, Flanagan and O'Shaughnessy (2003) argue that acquirers that are not in the same business sector as the target tend to pay higher premiums. This effect is found to have a more significant impact on tender offers when multiple bidders are competing for a target. Researchers argue that multiple bidders for a target can drive the offer bid price up, to the point where the price paid equals the total value of the target. Thus, all possible gains will go to the target (Markides & Oyon, 1998). The argument is empirically supported by Comment and Jarrell (1987), who further argue that single-bidder contests can create value for the acquirer while multiple-bidder contests do not. Given this, we include these relevant explanatory variables in our model.

High-tech target abnormal returns

Since 1990, there has been a substantial increase in M&As of high-tech companies (IMMA, 2019). The increased importance of technology-oriented companies raises the question of whether their intangible R&D capital is reflected by their stock market values (Chan, 2001). Despite the importance, magnitude, and volume of high-tech acquisitions, we find limited research in the finance literature in this area. Existing literature finds that most of these acquisitions involve the takeover of relatively young, small start-up companies. Also, the acquisitions are often motivated by the acquirers' desire to obtain highly developed technical expertise and capabilities (Benou & Madura, 2005). Given the heterogeneity in the existing literature findings, we argue that this research area is of relevance. To examine abnormal returns around the announcement day, we include several explanatory variables (see section 2.2.1). However, since high-tech targets often are valued based on their intangible assets (Prentice & Fox, 2002), such acquisitions are associated with high information asymmetry (Benou & Madura, 2005). Thus, we include R&D expenses and intangible assets in our model to investigate the possible effect on abnormal returns. Accounting information about a target's R&D activity is, however, affected by the leeway companies have in identifying R&D as costs (European Commission, 2011). Further, R&D-intensive companies may appear to be priced at unjustifiably high multiples (Chan, 2001), so target companies could be "expensive" by such criteria. We use data on R&D expenditure and intangible assets from SDC Platinum and rely on the validity of these figures provided by the database.

Contribution

The research questions we will investigate are of relevance because most of the past literature focus on the US market. Also, fewer studies have, to our best knowledge, examined high-tech transactions in Europe. Benou and Madura (2005) investigated high-tech acquisitions but focused mainly on the role of investment bank advisors. We find few articles focusing on how target firm shareholders' CAR is affected by the target's R&D expenditures and intangible assets. Thus, this thesis differs from previous literature as we aim to compare abnormal returns in the days around the announcement period for non-high-tech targets and high-tech targets.

1.1 Hypothesis

Given the findings, mostly from the US market, regarding the payment method, we expect to find that European target firm shareholders earn higher abnormal returns in cash transactions. However, it is uncertain whether the same holds for high-tech European targets. The same argument holds for the bid premium. Further, the magnitude of the high-tech industry allows us to examine if R&D expenses and intangible assets affect abnormal returns. We expect that these factors will have an impact on abnormal returns around the announcement day as we argue that these factors increase the difficulty of an accurate valuation of the target firm from a bidders' perspective.

Ultimately, the aim is to test if the following hypotheses hold:

H₁: Abnormal returns are higher for cash-financed acquisitions, compared to stockfinanced acquisitions. In addition, targets in the high-tech industry experiences higher abnormal returns compared to other industries.

H₂: *The bid premiums are larger for cash-financed acquisition compared to stockfinanced acquisitions.*

H₃: Target firms with higher R&D expenses and more intangible assets earn higher abnormal returns.

2.0 Literature review

In this section, we will start by reviewing the literature regarding the choice of payment method and target firms' abnormal return. Secondly, we will look at whether bid premiums, in general, are found to be higher for all cash acquisitions compared to stock-financed acquisitions in different industries. Lastly, we will investigate existing literature covering high-tech transactions and whether firm-spesific characteristics can explain target abnormal returns.

2.1 Payment methods, abnormal returns, and bid premiums

Previous research has found that European target firms gained average announcement returns of 24% in the period 1955-1985 (Franks & Harris, 1989), 19% in the period 1966-1991 (Danbolt, 2004), and 13% in the period 1990-2001

GRA 19703

(Goergen & Renneboog, 2004). These findings indicate that M&A activity, in general, creates value for target shareholders. Initially, in an M&A decision, a company is faced with the choice of giving up corporate control of issuing stocks, or the financial distress costs of increased debt (Faccio & Masulis, 2005). Faccio and Masulis suggest that acquiring companies with an incentive to preserve its corporate governance structure are more likely to offer cash, often debt-financed, to the target company. Wansley et al. (1983) did a study on 203 firms listed in the Federal Trade Commission acquired between 1970 and 1978. Comparing the acquisitions by payment method they found significant differences in abnormal returns. The study suggests that target shareholders earn 33.54% abnormal return in cash transactions compared to 17.47% in stock-financed transactions.

Davidson and Cheng (1997) used a sample of 219 acquisitions, targets matched with bidders, to test whether the payment method influences abnormal returns. They also find that announcement-period abnormal returns for targets are larger in cash transactions. Moreover, Davidson and Cheng argue that target shareholders receive larger bid premiums in cash acquisitions. To explain the observed difference in abnormal returns, they argue that cash bids reduce the asymmetric information problem and that target shareholders have different tax liabilities in stocks compared to cash. Further, they argue that the size of abnormal returns will be related to the payment method only when the market is supplied with additional information by the chosen payment method. What we find particularly interesting is that the paper suggests no direct relation between the target firms' abnormal return and payment method when the sample is controlled for the bid premium. Intuitively, the findings suggest that the payment method alone is not explanatory for abnormal returns and that abnormal returns may only be indirectly related to the chosen payment method.

According to Datta et al. (1992), a meta-analysis done on 41 studies in the US, shareholder wealth creation for bidders and targets differ significantly (data from 1948 to 1992). With a sample of 409 observations, the same study argues that bidders, on average, gained 0.388% while target firms' shareholders experienced a value increase of over 20%. These results suggest that target shareholders benefit in acquisitions and that wealth creation is substantially larger for targets than bidders. Furthermore, they highlight that managers should be aware of factors that

are related to wealth creation before initiating an acquisition. Empirical findings suggest that the managers of target firms can increase the possibility of maximizing gains for their stockholders by avoiding stocks as a payment method (Myers and Majluf, 1984; Krasker, 1986).

M&A activity is of high interest for many researchers, and several aspects of such transactions are covered in previous research. Chang (1998), examined bidder returns at the announcement of private company takeovers. According to his study, shareholders of bidding firms do not experience abnormal returns in cash offers but experience positive abnormal returns in stock offers. These findings are also in line with the findings by Wruck (1989), who further suggests negative average abnormal returns following the announcement of a public offering of securities. Fuller et al. (2002) used a sample of 3,135 takeovers in the US from 1990 to 2000 to examine returns to acquiring firms. The findings show that bidders earn significantly negative returns when purchasing public targets, but the returns are significantly positive when the target is private or a subsidiary.

Furthermore, using a sample of 2,511 merger and tender offers, Officer (2003) finds significantly higher premiums in cash deals compared to stock-transactions. He argues that these findings could be connected to tax-related circumstances. Further, cash as a payment method signals a higher valuation of the target firm, which deters competition. Thus, cash transactions relate to higher premiums compared to other payment methods, according to Cai and Vijh (2007). Assuming that acquisition bid premiums are positively related to the target firm's announcement returns, Chen (2011) also argue that target shareholders earn higher returns in cash transactions compared to stock transactions.

2.2 Other Potential Determinants of Abnormal returns in M&A transactions

Abnormal returns in M&A transactions are affected by several important factors according to previous studies. A thorough review of the empirical and theoretical literature on M&As allows us to identify several variables which may explain differences in abnormal returns. In this part, we identify and discuss the variables that have been included in enough previous studies so that their impact (or lack of impact) can be assessed.

* Number of Bidders

When several bidders are aiming to acquire the same target company, the level of competitiveness increases, which may increase the premium paid (Datta. et al., 1992). The case of several bidders can create an arena for the so-called "winner's curse," which is the result of an overpaid price, due to incomplete information about the target company value. The aim is to test whether increasing competitiveness affects the stockholders of the target firm.

Takeover type

Davidson and Cheng (1997), suggests that target firms in tender offers earn higher abnormal returns compared to mergers. Numerically, target company shareholders earn on average 29.1% in tender offers, while earning only 20.2% in mergers. The difference in these numbers is discussed by (Datta et al., 1992) who links the difference to the nature of the offers. A merger offer requires the target board's approval and subsequently goes to a shareholder vote. In many cases, a majority shareholder vote is sufficient for the agreement to materialize. In contrast, a tender offer is simply a bidding firm offering to acquire the target company's shares by directly offering cash or stocks to the shareholders.

The different potential outcome of these takeover types might be important, as the board of management and the shareholders of a company, can have different interest. Two main differences explain the increase in abnormal returns for the target shareholders in tender offers according to previous studies. Firstly, the announcement of a tender offer can alert other firms, which increases the competition, and possibly the abnormal returns (Comment & Jarrell, 1987). Secondly, the permit payment of a control premium in a merger, which goes directly to the firm's management post-acquisition, is removed in tender offers (Bradley, Desai, and Kim, 1988).

✤ Asset relatedness

In an M&A transaction, the relationship between bidding and target firms' assets might affect the abnormal return for both parties. Managers have a substantial investment in the employment of the firm, which creates incentives for diversification regarding potential risks (Sicherman and Pettway, 1987; Morck, Shleifer, and Vishny, 1990). Hence, they may attempt to reduce this risk by investing in unrelated assets. However, it is far from certain that such decisions are optimal. From a bidders' perspective, acquiring a target in a related industry may allow managers to minimize the risks associated with acquiring a company in an industry where their knowledge might be limited.

Furthermore, conglomerate mergers can reduce the probability of bankruptcy as one firm's earnings can offset the other firm's losses, producing an increased expected return for lenders (Lewellen, 1971; Higgins & Schall, 1975). Previous research conducted by Seth (1990a; 1990b), provides evidence showing that both related and unrelated acquisitions gain but concludes that the source of value increase is different. Wansley et al. (1983), however, claims that pure conglomerate mergers are associated with slightly higher abnormal returns.

Transaction size

In the period between 1998 and 2001, the US M&A market experienced an aggregate loss of \$240 billion (Moeller, Schlingemann & Stulz, 2005). Previous research provides evidence which implies that this loss can be explained by a small percentage of the acquisitions, with extreme losses. Numerous papers examine the impact on shareholder wealth in various corporate events, and most studies focus on abnormal stock returns (Bessembinder et al., 2009). However, there is less research done on what effect the transaction size might have on abnormal returns for target shareholders in the European M&A market. According to Moeller et al. (2005), 2.1% of all acquisitions between the year 1998 and 2001, accounted for 43.4% of all money spent on acquisitions. These 87 (2.1%) acquisitions are classified as "large loss deals" and had a loss of \$397 billion. Excluding these from the sample, results in an aggregate gain of \$157 billion across the US M&A market. This evidence implicates a negative correlation between acquisition size and abnormal return since there is no evidence supporting substantial gains to compensate for the losses. However, the firms of these large loss deals had no noticeable characteristics when adjusted for market size and deal size. Also, previous findings by Moeller et al. (2005) finds large loss deals to be using stock more often than cash for the financial part of the transaction.

2.3 High-tech target abnormal returns

Previous studies have found that shareholders of target firms receive most of the returns from M&A transactions, while bidding firms experience zero or negative announcement returns. These results could be because managers in bidding firms sometimes are motivated to acquire for other reasons than maximizing the firm value (Malatesta, 1983; Morck et al., 1990). Further, managers may be overly optimistic in the valuation of their targets, thereby failing to recognize that there are minimal gains in the takeover. Overly optimistic managers are what Roll (1993) defines as the hubris hypothesis of corporate takeovers.

Kohers and Kohers (2000) did a study on the value creation potential of high-tech M&A activity. They found that bidders earn significantly positive abnormal returns upon announcement regardless of whether the acquisition is cash or stock-financed. These findings are interesting because they challenge existing, quite established results regarding payment method and abnormal returns. The magnitude of high-tech industries makes this field interesting to investigate further.

Benou and Madura (2005) researched high-tech acquisitions and firm-specific characteristic. They try to measure the impact of R&D on the valuation effects of US high-tech targets. Their findings suggest that the valuation effects are more favorable when the target has fewer intangible assets. The same study suggests that the use of R&D expenditures mostly is based on the argument that bidders in the high-tech market aim to acquire an R&D capability. Importantly, since R&D predominantly is an intangible asset, the literature suggests that it is uncertain whether R&D based acquisitions deliver value. However, based on US firms' high-tech acquisitions in Canada and Europe made in the period 1975 to 1988, Markides and Oyon (1998) found R&D expenditures to have a significant impact on cumulative abnormal returns around the announcement day for the bidding firm. Since that period, the high-tech market has grown both in importance and aggregated value. Thus, it might be interesting to do more research on this field to add to existing literature and contribute with findings from the European market.

3.0 Theory

3.1 Efficient Market Hypothesis (EMH)

In an efficient capital market, the security prices would fully reflect all available information about all securities, which results in unbiased estimations of the value of the securities' underlying assets (Basu, 1977). The EMH explains how financial markets accomplish the allocation of ownership of economic resources efficiently. Under the assumption that the security prices reflect all available information, firms can make production-investment decisions, and investors can invest in securities that give them ownership of cash flows from economic activities (Fama, 1970). According to Fama, several researchers have presented empirical evidence in support of the EMH. There are also, however, findings suggesting that trading strategies such as the value investing strategy can generate a superior return. Value strategies call for buying stocks with low prices relative to measures of fundamental value such as earnings, book assets, or dividends amongst others (Lakonishok, 1994). The EMH is highly relevant in event studies as leakages of information and delay in the reach of information may be factors influencing the post and pre-event period estimates, respectively.

3.2 Winner's Curse and Hubris Hypothesis

The winner's curse is a situation when the winning bidder in an auction exceed the intrinsic value, or the real value, of the target firm due to overestimation (Capen et al., 1971). The economic intuition behind corporate takeovers is that the bidder expects the acquisition to generate positive cash flows in the future. Assuming that bidders can estimate the real value of the target firm on average, the winning bid, which will be higher than the average bid, will also be higher than the real value of the target. Thus, the winner's curse hypothesis suggests that the firm with the highest bid is also the firm that overestimates the target firm value the most (Varaiya & Ferris, 1987). Consequently, the price paid for the target may no longer be justified by the following returns in such cases.

In the absence of asymmetric information, the winner's curse should no longer be a problem (Cox & Isaac, 1984), as the rational bidders should have the same valuation of the target. If asymmetric information exists, however, Travlos (1987) argues that the payment method may provide valuable information to the market. Hence, the

winner's curse hypothesis becomes relevant in the decision process of M&A transactions.

Furthermore, Roll (1986) argues that overconfident executives tend to overpay for targets. Roll's hubris hypothesis suggests that systematic overpayment is due to managers being overconfident of their ability to manage the acquired assets. Overpaying for a target significantly reduces the equity value of the bidder (Travlos, 1987). We argue that overconfidence and the value of the transaction may be a factor that affects the target shareholders' abnormal return around the announcement day.

4.0 Data and descriptive statistics

Our dataset contains takeovers of listed European target companies carried out between 01.01.2000 and 31.12.2018. The Securities Data Corporation (SDC) Platinum database is the primary source of information used to construct the dataset. In addition, Thomson Reuters DataStream provided useful information regarding historical data on a variety of securities and indexes. To reduce issues with endogeneity and to increase the comparability of the deals, we construct a dataset including transactions between independent companies (i.e., the target is not a subsidiary, and the bidders are not management or employees). This will be explained more thoroughly in section 4.

4.1 Classification of data

Initially, our dataset consisted of 3031 transactions of European target companies, with the following restrictions:

- (i) Completed transactions between 01.01.2000 to 31.12.2018.
- (ii) The value of the transaction exceeds \$1 million.
- (iii) The target firm is listed on a country-specific index.
- (iv) Total shares acquired by the acquiring firm exceeds 50%.

From these restrictions, we chose to extract the variables necessary for our regressions (see table 1).

Variable definitions. This table presents the variables we use in our regression models to test each hypothesis. All variable definitions are retrieved from SDC Platinum (2012).

Variables	Definition
Log(ValueofTransaction)	Value of Transaction (\$ mil): Total value of consideration paid by the acquiror, excluding fees and expenses. We compute the logarithm of this dollar value to make the value appear more normal.
BidPremium	Premium 1 Day Prior to Announcement Date: Premium of offer price to target closing stock price 1 day prior to the original announcement date, expressed as a percentage
NumberofBidders	Number of Bidders: The number of entities (including the acquiror) bidding for a target. Also, the number of challenging deals for one target. For deals with only one bidder (i.e., no challenger), Number of Bidders will be 1
TenderorMerger	Equals 1 if Tender and 0 if Merger
CashStock	Equals 1 if Cash transaction and 0 if Stock transaction
HighTech	Equals 1 if the target company is classified by SDC as "high-tech" and 0 otherwise
Industry	Equals 1 if both bidder and target are classified by SDC as the same industry and 0 otherwise
TargetMarketValue	Target Market Value in Dollars: Calculated by multiplying the total number of the target company's shares outstanding by the closing stock price 4 weeks prior to the announcement date of the transaction, stated in millions of Dollars.
Log(R&Dexpenses)	Target Research and Development Expenses Last 12 Months: Disclosed expenditures on research and development activities for the 12 months ending on the date of the most current financial information prior to the announcement of the transaction (\$mil). We compute the logarithm of R&D expenses to make the value appear more normal.
Target Intangible Assets	Target Intangible Assets: Value of assets having no physical existence, yet having substantial value to the firm, including goodwill, patents, trademarks, copyrights, franchises, and costs in excess of net book value of businesses acquired, as of the date of the most recent financial information prior to the announcement of the transaction (\$mil).

Note: Log(R&Dexpenses) and Target Intangible Assets are only used in the regression based on the high-tech target transactions. Target Intangible Assets appears in the regression models as the ratio Target Intangible Assets to Target Total Assets.

We thoroughly examined all selected variables for incomplete data and removed insufficient findings, which reduced the sample to 1912 transactions. In addition, countries with less than ten transactions were cut from the sample. The argument is that low number of transactions may impose an adverse impact on the regression models. As a result, the sample size was reduced to 1702. Further, we disregard data with mixed payment, mainly because we wish to mitigate any mixed impact these transactions might have. After that, the dataset from SDC platinum counted 654 transactions.

The data necessary for calculating abnormal returns were obtained from Thomson Reuters DataStream. The database includes stock prices for all transactions we gathered from SDC platinum and selected country-specific value-weighted indexes for each transaction. Since our dataset consists of transactions from 15 different countries, we decided to use country-specific indexes to best capture the correct market fluctuations for all transactions. Both the stock prices and the indexes had a period of -125 to +5 days, with day 0 being the announcement date. All indexes were chosen based on the target company's country. After controlling for incomplete or incorrect data, our final sample consisted of 463 transactions.

Of the final 463 transactions obtained, high-tech target companies accounted for 175. As our interest lies upon target shareholder returns, we did not require the acquiring company to be within the high-tech industry. To address the possible impact of R&D expenses and intangible assets on abnormal return in the high-tech industry, we extracted two additional variables from SDC platinum, R&D expenses for the last fiscal year, and intangible assets. Data on R&D expenses were somewhat incomplete, which reduced our high-tech transactions from 175 to 73. These transactions were used as a sub-sample to investigate whether R&D expense and intangible assets can explain CAR for high-tech targets.

			Table 2 – Do	Table 2 – Descriptive statistics	tics		
Descriptive statistics. This table presents the mean values of our selected test and control variables. Differences marked with *,**,*** are statistically significant at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level, respectively, using a two-sample t-test.	table pres te 10%, 5	ents the mean value: %, and 1% level, re	s of our selec spectively, u	ted test and cont sing a two-samp	rol variables. E le t-test.)ifferences marl	ked with *,**,*** are
				Avg.			
	Ν	CAAR (-3,+3)	Avg. Bid		Avg. Nr of	Avg. Nr of Avg. Tender Avg. Same	Avg. Same
				smil)	Siannia	Iallo	muusty
All transaction	463	14,69 %	27,30%	\$1441,86	1,06	36,06%	58,31 %
High-tech targets	175	21,01 % ***	38,13%	\$1019,06	1,06	41,63%	49,71 %
Non high-tech targets	285	10,74 %	20,25 %	\$1688,31	1,06	32,98%	63,44 %
Cash financed transaction	271	19,13 %***	31,68 %*	\$1023,73	1,10	45,58%	51,66 %
Stock financed transactions	192	8,41 %	21,13 %	\$2026,78	1,01	22,91%	67,70 %
Note: Cumulative Average Abnormal Return (CAAR)	e Abnorma	il Return (CAAR)					

In table 2, we present the descriptive statistics of interest for our dataset. The differences in cumulative average abnormal return (-3, +3) (CAAR) between both high-tech versus non-high-tech and cash versus stock-financed acquisitions are significant at the 1% level. Further, the differences in bid premiums for cash versus stock-financed acquisitions is found significant at the 5% level. The findings will be explained more thoroughly in section 6. Another important observation from this table is the overall low average number of bidders. We include the number of bidders as a control variable in our regression models, however there is uncertainty as to whether our dataset contains enough transactions with several bidders to provide significant results.

5.0 Methodology

In this section, we will outline the methodology used to answer our research questions. Initially, we explain how abnormal returns for each transaction is acquired. Thereafter, we address each research question separately and provide a full description of the statistical procedures used.

5.1 Measuring abnormal returns

To test our hypotheses regarding abnormal returns, we first need to obtain the abnormal returns for our selected transactions. We use a standard event study methodology (Brown & Warner, 1985) to obtain abnormal returns for target firms, and a single index model that predicts normal returns for firm i:

$$NR_{it} = \alpha_i + \beta_i R_{mt} + \epsilon_{it}$$

where:

α_i	= the intercept of the linear relationship between the return of stock
	<i>i</i> and the return of the country-specific market index.
β_i	= the slope of the linear relationship between the return of stock i
	and the return of the country-specific value-weighted market index.
NR _{it}	= the expected rate of return of firm i at time t .
R_{mt}	= the market rate of return at time t .
\in_{it}	= the error term for firm i at time t .

The α and β coefficients are OLS parameter estimates for the slope and intercept of firm *i*. To estimate the market rate of return, we use an estimation window of 120 days, ranging from -125 to -5, where day 0 is the acquisition announcement day. The abnormal return is further determined as the difference between the expected market return at time *t*, and the actual return of firm *i* at time *t*, which is obtained from their country-specific value-weighted index.

We calculate the abnormal returns for firm *i* at time $t(AR_{it})$ as follows:

$$AR_{it} = R_{it} - NR_{it}$$

With:

After abnormal returns for all target firms are estimated, we cumulate them, to obtain cumulative abnormal returns with an event window of +/-3 days.

$$CAR_{+3/-3} = \sum_{i=1}^{T} AR_{i,+3/-3}$$

5.1.1 Are abnormal returns higher for cash-financed acquisitions, and do hightech targets experience higher abnormal returns?

To test the effect of payment method on abnormal returns, and if high-tech targets experience higher abnormal returns, we will regress each target firms' CAR, against two dummy variables representing payment method and high-tech targets respectively. By regressing CAR against these dummy variables, we can evaluate the relationship between the variables and abnormal returns. Importantly, to avoid biased results, we control for variables with a significant effect on abnormal returns according to previous studies. These variables include the number of bidders, acquisition type, value of the transaction, and asset relatedness (denoted as CV*i*).

The final regression model takes the form:

$$CAR_i = \alpha + \beta_1 D_1 + \beta_2 D_2 + \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i CV_i$$
(1)

Where:

CAR _i	= Cumulative abnormal return for the <i>i</i> th company.
$lpha_i$	= The regression parameter for the i th variable.
D_1	= A dummy variable taking the value 1 if the acquisition is cash
	financed, zero otherwise.
D_2	= A dummy variable taking the value 1 if the target company is within
	the high-tech industry (defined by SDC Platinum), zero otherwise.
CVi	= Control variables.

5.1.2 Is the bid premium higher for all cash-financed acquisitions, compared to stock-financed acquisitions?

To investigate this question, we cumulate the bid premiums for all cash and stockfinanced acquisitions separately and test if the difference is statistically significant by using a two-sample t-test. Furthermore, to test the explanatory power of the independent variables, we will regress the bid premium against our test variable and selected control variables:

$$BidPremium_i = \alpha_i + \beta_1 D1 + \sum_{i=1}^N CVi$$
(2)

Where:

BidPremium	= The premium paid to the <i>i</i> th company.
D_1	= A dummy variable taking the value 1 if the acquisition is cash
	financed, and zero otherwise.
CVi	= Control variables.

5.1.3 Are abnormal returns higher for the high-tech industry, and can R&D expenses and Intangible Assets explain potential differences?

To test this hypothesis, we calculate the CAR for both the high-tech target companies, and non-high-tech targets, and test if the difference is statistically significant by conducting a two-sample t-test. Further, we regress CAR for hightech targets, against several test variables defined below. The control variables included in this model are the number of bidders, if the acquisition is a tender offer or a merger, the logarithm of the transaction value, and the premium paid to target shareholders.

$$CAR_{i+3/-3}^{HT} = \alpha_i + \beta_1 D_1 + \beta_2 Log(R\&Dexpenses)_i + \beta_3 \frac{IntangibleAssets_i}{TotalAssets_i} + \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i CV_i$$
(3)

Where:

 $CAR_{i+3/-3}^{HT}$ = Cumulative abnormal return for the *i*th company.

α_i	= The regression parameter for the i th variable.
D_1	= A dummy variable taking the value 1 if the acquisition
	is cash financed, and zero otherwise.
Log(R&Dexpenses) _i	= Target firm i 's logarithmic R&D expenses the past 12
	months prior to the announcement day, ending on the
	actual announcement day.
IntangibleAssets _i	= The relative size of intangible asset to total assets of
TotalAssets _i	target firm <i>i</i> .
CVi	= Control variables.

5.2 Important diagnostics for valid results

Before and after data is used in regression models, specific tests and assumptions need to be checked for valid results and estimates (Brooks, 2015). In this section, we outline the most critical diagnostics we control for in our analysis.

Homoscedasticity

One assumption for making ordinary least square (OLS) regressions valid is homoscedasticity. The variance of the error terms should be consistent for all observations, meaning they are independently and identically distributed. If this assumption is violated, the error terms will be heteroscedastic, and the regression results unreliable. To test for heteroscedasticity in Stata, we run a White test, with the hypothesis:

H₀: Homoscedasticity

HA: Unrestricted heteroscedasticity

✤ Multicollinearity

When fitting a regression model, multicollinearity is a problem that arises when the independent variables are highly correlated. To test for this, we create a correlation matrix, including all independent variables. Correlation values exceeding 0.8 will be removed from the regression model since they provide inefficient coefficient estimates. Increasing multicollinearity makes the coefficient estimates of the regression "unstable" with highly inflated standard deviations (Brooks, 2015). To further test for multicollinearity in Stata, we run a "variance inflation factor" (VIF)

test. Variables with a higher VIF than 10, gives evidence that they are a linear combination of other independent variables, and will be removed (O'Brien, 2007).

The correlation matrices and VIF test diagnostics for the variables used in the regression models are presented in the appendix section (Appendix 1-6).

5.2.1 Endogeneity

Omitted variable bias

If one or more explanatory variables are excluded in the estimated regression model, omitted variable bias will occur (Stock & Watson, 2015, p.229). Consequently, if the omitted variable has explanatory power of the regressions' dependent variable, and is correlated to another independent variable, then a single OLS estimator is inconsistent. The error terms would also be correlated to the estimator, violating the first OLS assumption. For our regression models, omitted variable bias would be problematic if an omitted independent variable is correlated to another independent variable. If this is the case, the included variable will be correlated to the error term, causing endogeneity. The problem of endogeneity, will, to our best extent, be mitigated by adding several control variables that have been shown statistically significant against CAR in previous research.

Measurement errors

Measurement errors occur when the data under assessment has been revised, changed, or altered without taking the right precautions to deal with it (Brooks, 2015, p. 3 and p. 236). For our dataset, the estimated alpha and beta coefficient, together with the calculation of abnormal returns is crucial, regarding measurement errors. To mitigate potential measurement errors, every alpha and beta coefficient is obtained through an ordinary least square estimation, using country-specific value-weighted indexes and stock prices obtained from Thomson Reuters DataStream. Furthermore, we examine both the indexes and firms stock prices thoroughly before using them for estimations. Every transaction has been checked for incomplete data and been removed from the dataset if found insufficient. Lastly, given that all variables are obtained from either SDC Platinum or DataStream, we believe measurement errors have been reduced to a minimum.

6.0 Results and discussions

In this section, we will discuss the results we obtained from our regression models and analyze our findings. We follow our research questions in order, meaning the first analysis will investigate whether the payment method affects abnormal returns for the whole sample, and if high-tech industries experience higher abnormal returns. Secondly, we discuss if the premium paid to target shareholders are significantly larger for cash-financed acquisitions, compared to stock-financed acquisitions. Lastly, we analyze the findings regarding abnormal returns in hightech industries and discuss economic intuition around our selected test variables.

6.1 The effect of payment method on abnormal returns

taking the value 1 for cash-financed acquisitions, zero otherwise.

Our first research question is initially addressed by running a two-sample t-test to check if there is a statistically significant difference between cash and stock payments on CAR. As we can see from table 3, there is a difference between cash and stock payment of 10.72% which is significant at the 1% level, and we can reject the null hypothesis of zero difference in mean.

Group	N	Mean	t-value
Cash	271	0.191	
Stock	192	0.084	
Combined	463	0.147	-4.975***
Difference		0.107***	

 TABLE 3 - Two-sample t-test: CAR (-3, +3), by CashStock

This table present the results from a two-sample t-test on CAR(-3,+3), by the group CashStock. CAR(-3,+3) is target firm's cumulative abnormal return on a three day event window around acquisition announcement date. "CashStock" is a dummy variable

Note: *, **, and *** indicate that the variable is significant at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively.

This is not a surprising result and is in line with previous research such as Davidson and Cheng (1997) and Wansley et al. (1983). Interestingly, our findings differentiate regarding the extent of abnormal returns. Davidson and Cheng report a difference in CAAR of 2.62% between stock and cash payments, while Wansley et al. report a difference of 16.07%. Importantly, their event window was -40/+5

and -1/+1, respectively, while our event window is -3/+3. Based on the EMH, stock prices should adjust quickly following an M&A announcement, incorporating any expected value change (Andrade, Mitchell, & Stafford, 2001). Therefore, using different lengths in event windows may yield different results.

To further investigate our research question, we conducted a multiple regression model as specified in section 4.1, with the following output:

TABLE 4 - Regression with all variables

This table presents the estimation results of the multiple OLS regression model. It tests whether the value of the transaction, the bid premium, number of bidders, whether the transaction is a tender or a merger, and cash versus stock as payment can explain the cumulative abnormal returns (-3, +3). We include the logarithm of the value of transaction to make the distribution of the transformed variable appear more normal. The bid premium is calculated as the offer price above the target closing stock price the day prior to the original announcement date, expressed as a percentage. NumberofBidders is the numerical value of bidding firms. "TenderorMerger" takes the value 1 for a tender offer, and zero for a merger. "CashStock" takes the value 1 for cash acquisitions, and zero for stock. "HighTech" takes the value 1 if the target company is specified as a high-tech target according per SDC platinum. "Industry" takes the value 1 if both the target and acquirer company have the same industry code.

Regression	Coefficients	t voluo
CAR (-3, +3)	Coefficients	t-value
Log(ValueofTransaction)	0.018	1.39
BidPremium	0.001	1.99^{**}
NumberofBidders	-0.035	-1.32
TenderorMerger	0.022	0.96
CashStock	0.077	3.22^{***}
HighTech	0.065	3.14***
Industry	-0.009	-0.45
cons	0.029	0.63
N = 463	$R^2 = 0.2256$	
F =17.28	Prob > F = 0.0000	

Note: *, **, and *** indicate that the variable is significant at the 10%, 5%, and 1% *level respectively.*

From table 4, our results indicate three statistically significant variables, and our findings are, to some extent, in line with previous research. We expected the variable "BidPremium" to be significant, which it is at the 1% level. However,

previous research provides evidence suggesting that the value of transaction is significant on target abnormal returns, in contrast to our results.

Interestingly, the variables "NumberofBidders", "TenderorMerger" and "Industry" are according to our dataset, not significant, even at the 20% level. This is surprising given that several studies provides evidence to the contrary (Sicherman and Pettway, 1987; Datta et al., 1992; Davidson and Cheng, 1997). However, these results are based on old data and tested on geographically different targets which may be an explanation to the different results.

"CashStock" is found significant at the 1% level and has a positive coefficient of 0.077. This implies that target company shareholders' experience on average 7.7% higher CAR (-3, +3) in cash-financed transactions. This number is notably lower than the original difference of 10.72%, found by the two-sample t-test. This is because a multiple regression model captures the explanatory power of each included independent variable, while the two-sample t-test only reports the combined difference.

The second test variable, "HighTech," is a far less researched variable on CAR across European target transactions. From the regression based on our dataset, the variable is found significant at the 1% level. The positive coefficient of 0.055 implies that high-tech target shareholders, on average, experience 5.5% higher CAR compared to shareholders of non-high-tech companies. This raises the question if the same variables used in our total sample can explain the difference in CAR (-3, +3) for high-tech targets. In section 6.3, a high-tech target regression model aims to investigate this question and give insight into potential explanatory variables.

6.2 Differences in premium paid

Similar to our first research question, we run a two-sample t-test on bid premium, to check for a statistically significant difference between cash and stock. Table 5 reports a difference of 10.98% with a negative t-value of 1.666.

Group	N	Mean	t-value
Cash	271	0.317	
Stock	192	0.207	
Combined	463	0.271	-1.666*
Difference		0.110*	

 TABLE 5 - Two-sample t-test: BidPremium, by CashStock

 This table presents the results from a two-sample t-test on BidPremium, by the group

CashStock. The bid premium is calculated as the offer price above the target closing stock price the day prior to the original announcement date, expressed as a percentage. "CashStock" is a dummy variable taking the value 1 for cash financed

Note: *, **, and *** indicate that the variable is significant at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively.

The result implies that we can reject the null hypothesis of zero difference in mean and conclude that the mean is statistically significantly different from zero. Previous studies conducted in the US conclude similarly but provide different arguments to support their findings. Officer (2003) argues that bid premiums are higher due to tax-related circumstances, while Cai and Vijh (2007) ties higher bid premiums in cash acquisition to the deterred competition. Importantly, our next model focus on deal characteristics rather than exogenous factors. Running a multiple regression model with bid premium as the dependent variable, yielded the following output:

TABLE 6 - Bid premium regression

This table presents the estimation results of the multiple OLS regression model. It tests whether target firm market value, number of bidders, whether the transaction is a tender or a merger, industry relatedness, and cash versus stock as payment can explain the premium paid to target firms' shareholders. The bid premium is calculated as the offer price above the target closing stock price the day prior to the original announcement date, expressed as a percentage. We include the logarithm of the target firms market value to make the distribution of the transformed variable appear more normal. NumberofBidders is the numerical value of bidding firms. "TenderorMerger" takes the value 1 for a tender offer, and zero for a merger. "CashStock" takes the value 1 for cash acquisitions, and zero for stock. "Industry" takes the value 1 if both the target and acquirer company have the same industry code.

Regression	Coefficients	t-value
BidPremium	Coefficients	t-value
Log(TargetMarketValue)	-0.114	-1.99**
TenderorMerger	0.149	2.03**
CashStock	0.051	0.55
Industry	-0.001	-0.03
NumberofBidders	0.092	1.67*
cons	0.356	1.66*
N =463	$R^2 = 0.053$	
F = 47.84	Prob > F = 0.0000	

Note: *, **, and *** indicate that the variable is significant at the 10%, 5%, and 1% *level respectively.*

The table above presents three significant variables, most of them expected, but with some deviation from our initial expectations. We expected the dummy variable CashStock to explain bid premiums to some degree but found it insignificant. This emphasizes that the two-sample t-test only captures the combined difference and excludes the explanatory power of relevant independent variables. Moreover, these findings are contradictory to earlier research, conducted on the US M&A market. Davidson and Cheng (1997) argue that the payment method is unrelated to abnormal returns once the bid premium is controlled for. In contrast, we find the payment method to be a significant explanatory variable regressed against CAR (-3, +3), but not against bid premium.

"TenderorMerger" has the highest coefficient, and indicate that target shareholders, on average, obtain 14.9% higher premiums in tender offers, compared to mergers. Asset relatedness, represented by the variable "Industry", is a control variable that researchers have found significant when regressed against bid premium (Morck et al., 1990). However, we find no evidence supporting these results. "Log(TargetMarketValue)," indicates that target firms gain less in excess of their market value per share as target market value increases. Intuitively, since larger target firms would require significantly higher payments in total, and since bid premium is the percentage in excess of market value per share, bidding companies would be less willing to pay larger premiums due to the risk at stake.

6.3 Abnormal returns in high-tech industries.

Results from the descriptive statistics on the total sample of 175 high-tech targets suggest that there is a significant difference in CAR between industries. From a high-tech target perspective, we find average CAR (-3, + 3) to be 21.01% and statistically significant at the 1% level. High-tech target firms also receive an average bid premium of 38.13%, which is statistically significant at the 1% level. This result is in line with Kohers and Kohers (2000) who found results supporting that high-tech targets were paid significantly higher premiums than non-high-tech target companies. Given that Kohers and Kohers' study is restricted over the timed period 1987 to 1996, thus not capturing the critical rise of the tech industry, we would expect that our findings would differ somewhat from their findings. However, they report a one-day bid premium of 37.89%. One explanation for the high average bid premiums in transactions involving high-tech targets could be due to the difficulty of valuing intangible assets. Acquirers may be overly optimistic in their valuation of the high-tech target and could end up paying based on perception rather than the actual value.

 TABLE 7 - Regression High-Tech Targets

Cumulative abnormal returns (-3, +3). This table presents the estimation results of the multiple OLS regression model. It tests whether the value of the transaction, the bid premium, number of bidders, whether the transaction is a tender or a merger, and cash versus stock as payment can explain the CAR (-3, +3) for high-tech targets. We include the logarithm of the value of transaction to make the distribution of the transformed variable appear more normal. The bid premium is calculated as the offer price above the target closing stock price the day prior to the original announcement date, expressed as a percentage. NumberofBidders is a variable indicating the number of competing bids (i.e., if there is one bidder, this variable takes the number 1). TenderorMerger and CashStock are dummy variables taking the value 1, if it is a tender offer and if the payment method is cash, respectively.

Regression CAR (-3, +3)	Coefficient	t-value	
Log(ValueofTransaction)	0.006	0.38	
BidPremium	0.091	2.04^{**}	
NumberofBidders	-0.071	-1.62	
TenderorMerger	0.048	1.40	
CashStock	0.135	3.95***	
Cons	0.126	2.52**	
N = 175	$R^2 = 0.2151$		
F = 7.41	Prob > F = 0.0000		

Note: *, **, and *** indicate that the variable is significant at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively.

To test for similarities between the full sample and the high-tech target sample, we regress the same variables on high-tech CAR as we did on the full sample. However, we removed the dummy variables "HighTech" and "Industry", as we now only investigate high-tech targets. The results suggest that the independent variables "NumberofBidders", "TenderorMerger", and "Log(ValueofTransaction)" seems to be insignificant. We find that the number of bidders is significant only at the 15% level. This finding is contradictory to economic intuition and can be due to sample inadequacies. The sample consisting of only high-tech target contains few transactions with more than one bidder involved which could explain our findings on this note.

The two variables, "BidPremium" and "CashStock", are significant at 5% and 1% level respectively. Both coefficients are positive, implying that targets receiving higher bid premiums experience higher CAR(-3, +3) and that cash as payment method yields, on average, 13.5% higher CAR(-3, +3). These findings are in line with previous research such as Jung et al. (1996), Kohers and Kohers (2000), and Faccio and Masulis (2005). However, we find no evidence supporting the argument that the market favors stock financed high-growth investments as suggested by Jung et al. (1996).

6.3.1 Can R&D expenses and Intangible Assets explain the higher CAR in hightech target transactions?

In the previous section, the full sample of acquisitions for which data were available was first separated into acquisitions consisting of deals where the target was classified as high-tech by SDC Platinum (N=175). In this section, the sample is further reduced due to the lack of available information regarding R&D expenses and intangible assets. High-tech targets with no missing values on the two new variables are included in the sample, which now contains 73 observations.

Given that our results indicate a significant difference in CAR(-3, +3) between the high-tech and non-high-tech industry, and the lack of existing research on this field in the financial literature, we find it useful to investigate it further. To value a high-tech target accurately is difficult for the acquirer due to their intangible assets and future growth opportunities. Moreover, most high-tech acquisitions are associated

with a high degree of information asymmetry (Benou & Madura, 2005). Information asymmetry can create skepticism regarding the prospects of the target and the real value of the deal.

Based on this argument we include the target firms' R&D expenses and the most recent financial information on intangible assets. The rationale is that high-tech targets with higher R&D expenses and more intangible assets will be more difficult to value accurately and could, therefore, be associated with lower bidder announcement period abnormal returns (Benou & Madura, 2005). Thus, we identify these factors as possible explanatory variables for high-tech target firm announcement period CAR.

 TABLE 8 - Regression CAR (-3, +3) for High-Tech industry (Sub-sample)

This table presents the estimation results of the multiple OLS regression model on the sub-sample for high-tech targets. It tests whether the value of the transaction, the bid premium, number of bidders, whether the transaction is a tender or a merger, cash versus stock as payment, R&D expenses, and Intangible Assets can explain the CAR(-3,+3) for high-tech targets. Log(ValueofTransaction), NumberofBidders, TenderorMerger, BidPremium, and CashStock are the same variables as in the previous regressions. Log(R&Dexpenses) is a variable including the targets' disclosed logarithmic expenditures (dollar value) on R&D activities for the 12 months ending on the date of the most current financial information prior to the announcement of the transaction. We include the logarithm of R&D expenditure to make the distribution of the transformed variable appear more normal. The ratio Intangible Assets to Total Assets for high-tech targets.

Regression CAR (-3, +3)	Coefficients	t-value	
Log(ValueofTransaction)	-0.049	-1.56	
NumberofBidders	-0.118	-2.20*	
TenderorMerger	0.084	1.73*	
CashStock	0.014	0.31	
BidPremium	0.003	4.34***	
Log(R&Dexpenses)	0.075	2.15**	
IntangibleAssets/TotalAssets	0.106	0.74	
Cons	0.212	2.14**	
N = 73	$R^2 = 0.457$		
F = 8.31	Prob > F = 0.0000		

Note: *, **, and *** indicate that the variable is significant at the 10%, 5%, and 1% level respectively.

We find "Log(R&D expenses)" to be statistically significantly different from zero at the 1% level. The results indicate that high-tech targets with higher R&D expenses twelve months prior to the announcement day earn higher CAR (-3, +3), on average. Prior research suggests that bidders that acquire targets with a higher

degree of R&D expenditures earn significantly lower CAR in the announcement period (Hsu et al., 2009). To our best knowledge, we find no evidence regarding high-tech target shareholder CAR in this context, but our findings are in line with our initial expectations.

The variable "IntangibleAssets/TotalAssets" represents the relative relationship between the targets' intangible assets to total assets. We find this variable to be insignificant when regressed against CAR(-3, +3). It is uncertain to what extent the book value of Intangible Assets has an informative value for explaining the target share price and stock market returns. Costs related to intangible assets is also difficult to distinguish from maintenance costs related to operations. Furthermore, the leeway firms have in reporting such figures makes it difficult to decide what should be classified as an expense and what should not. Consequently, data on intangible assets from SDC Platinum may not represent the true value, which could be an explanation as to why this variable is found insignificant.

Results based on this sub-sample suggest that the payment method chosen to finance the transaction is insignificant. Interestingly, this contradicts the findings in the preceding sections covering the full sample of high-tech targets. However, in this sub-sample, only three acquirers are classified as non-high-tech, and 18 transactions are stock-financed. Thus, we argue that this result could be attributed to the sample reduction of stock financed transactions. Further, we find that high-tech target shareholders experience higher CAR (-3, +3), on average, in tender offers compared to mergers. The number of bidders is insignificant even at the 15% level, which is surprising as the number of bidders in previous literature is found to positively affect target shareholders' CAR (Datta et al., 1992). Controlling for the bid premium received by the high-tech target, we find the variable to be statistically significantly different from zero at the 1% level. Higher bid premiums received by high-tech targets positively affect high-tech target CAR (-3, +3), which is unsurprising according to existing literature.

7.0 Conclusion

In this Master Thesis, we have investigated the effect of payment method on target company shareholders' cumulative abnormal return. Further, we investigate the effect of intangible assets and R&D expenses on high-tech transactions. With the chosen restrictions, our dataset eventually consists of 463 European target transactions in the period 2000 to 2018. Using an event study methodology and specified regression models, we find results that both support and contradicts findings from previous research.

We find that the payment method does affect target CAR(-3, +3) based on the whole sample. Our results indicate a 7.7% higher CAR for target firms when they receive cash as payment. This is not contradictory to previous research and is something we expected to find. However, we find no evidence supporting that the payment method affects the bid premium which is contradictory to previous findings. Further, based on the descriptive statistics of our sample, we found that high-tech target transactions yielded 10.25% higher CAR compared to non-high-tech transactions. Given this, we included high-tech transactions as a test variable and found the results statistically significant.

Related previous research suggests that Intangible Assets and R&D can affect the valuation of firms and abnormal returns in M&As of high-tech targets (Chan et al., 2001; Gu & Wang, 2005). Thus, we included these as high-tech industry-specific explanatory variables to test a sub-sample of high-tech targets. Our findings suggest that targets with higher R&D expenses experience higher CAR around the announcement day. However, we find no evidence supporting that targets with higher Intangible Assets to Total Assets ratio experience higher abnormal returns around the announcement day. This is possibly due to intangible assets being more difficult to value in an M&A transaction (Benou & Madura, 2005).

8.0 Limitations and further research

There are some limitations to our dataset. Firstly, the number of bidders throughout the entire dataset is arguably deficient and may have an impact when we use it as a control variable. This could be an explanation as to why our results indicate that the number of bidders is insignificant when regressed against CAR. Secondly, data on target firms' R&D expenses obtained from SDC Platinum lacked some observations. Consequently, we ended up with a sub-sample of 73 transactions, which is quite low. This reduced sample size might have resulted in increased standard errors, subsequently making it more difficult to obtain significant test results.

Further, we use R&D expenses and Intangible Assets as explanatory variables, which introduces uncertainty to a degree. Even though R&D is expensed each year (European Commission, 2011), the uncertainty connected to including the ratio Intangible Assets to Total Assets as a variable in our model should not be neglected. According to IFRS, the cost of development is capitalized when the asset meets the requirements that the intangible investment is likely to be brought to the market or sold. Whether this assumption holds for all the high-tech targets in our sample is uncertain. However, we rely on the validity of both R&D expenses and Intangible Assets provided by SDC Platinum.

During our research, we found several potentials for future investigation. We investigate the M&As of publicly traded "high-tech" and "non-high-tech" targets. High-tech acquisitions are a less researched area in the finance literature. We referred to various papers suggesting that the valuation of high-tech targets may be affected by the uncertainty of R&D expenses and Intangible Assets. We argue that the role of investment bankers could mitigate the potential misvaluations of target firms with a high degree of intangibles. Acquisitions advised by experienced banks could, in turn, affect the wealth creation in high-tech transactions. Thus, we suggest that more research on this field would provide a better understanding of the magnitude of high-tech transactions for decision-makers in the future.

This table reports the correle	This table reports the correlation of the variables used in regression x. Each entry reports the corresponding correlation between the two variables. Correlation measures to what extent the variables	ession x. Each entry repu	orts the correspon	ding correlation betwe	sen the two variables.	Correlation measures to w	iat extent the variable
	move in tandem, where 1 indicates perfect positive correlation between the variables and -1 indicates perfect negative correlation.	dicates perfect positive c	orrelation between	1 the variables and -1	indicates perfect nego	ttive correlation.	
	Log(ValueofTransaction) NumberofBidders BidPremium TenderorMerger Cashstock	NumberofBidders	BidPremium	TenderorMerger	Cashstock	HighTech	Industry
Log(ValueofTransaction)	1						
NumberofBidders	0.1	1					
BidPremium	-0.039	0.046	1				
TenderorMerger	-0.069	0.105	0.151	1			
CashStock	-0.063	0.174	0.084	0.2305	1		
HighTech	-0.233	0.009	0.147	0.094	0.211	1	
Industry	0.1071	0.008	-0.044	-0.103	0.162	-0.146	1

1. Correlation Matrix (Full sample)

9.0 Appendixes

2. VIF (Full sample)

regression model divided by It is a quantitative measur	the variance of a severe	ratio of variance in a multip regression model with one ter multicollinearity is in an O. hat the model suffers fro
Variables	VIF	1/VIF
CashStock	1.14	0.874
HighTech	1.13	0.883
TenderorMerger	1.09	0.918
Log(ValueofTransaction)	1.08	0.926
NumberofBidders	1.05	0.951
Industry	1.05	0.951
BidPremium	1.04	0.957
Mean VIF	1.08	

	Table 11	Table 11 - Correlation Matrix (BidPremium)	(BidPremium)		
This table reports the correlat	This table reports the correlation of the variables used in regression	ression x. Each entry rep.	orts the correspondi	ng correlation b	x. Each entry reports the corresponding correlation between the two variables. Correlation measures to what extent the variables
	move in tandem, where I i	ndicates perfect positive c	orrelation between 1	he variables and	move in tandem, where 1 indicates perfect positive correlation between the variables and -1 indicates perfect negative correlation.
Bidprem regresjon	NumberofBidders	TenderorMerger	CashStock	Industry	Industry ;(TargetMarketValue)
NumberofBidders	1				
TenderorMerger	0.105	1			
CashStock	0.174	0.23	1		
Industry	-0.008	-0.103	-0.161	-	
Log(TargetMarketValue)	0.069	-0.135	-0.077	0.121	1

3. Correlation Matrix (Full sample, Bid premium)

4. VIF (Full sample, Bid premium)

TABLE 12 - VIF (Bid Premium Full Sample, N = 463)

Variance Inflation Factor (VIF). VIF is the ratio of variance in a multiple regression model divided by the variance of a regression model with one term. It is a quantitative measure of how severe multicollinearity is in an OLS regression. VIF values > 10 implies that the model suffers from multicollinearity.

Variables	VIF	1/VIF
CashStock	1.11	0.903
TenderorMerger	1.08	0.923
NumberofBidders	1.05	0.956
Industry	1.04	0.959
Log(TargetMarketValue)	1.04	0.961
Mean VIF	1.06	

This table reports the correlation of the variables used in regression	1 of the variables used in regre	sssion x. Each entry rep.	orts the correspon	ding correlation betwe	een the two varia	x. Each entry reports the corresponding correlation between the two variables. Correlation measures to what extent the variables	t extent the variables
	move in tandem, where 1 indicates perfect positive correlation between the variables and -1 indicates perfect negative correlation.	licates perfect positive c	orrelation between	<i>a</i> the variables and -1	indicates perfect	t negative correlation.	
	Log(ValueofTransaction) Nu	NumberofBidders		Tenderor Merger	CashStock	BidPremium TenderorMerger CashStock Intangible assets/total assets Log(R&Dexpenses)	Log(R&Dexpenses)
Log(ValueofTransaction)	1						
NumberofBidders	0.173	1					
BidPremium	0.139	0.054	1				
TenderorMerer	0.159	0.127	0.141	1			
CashStock	-0.008	0.068	0.216	0.093	1		
IntangibleAssets/TotalAssets	-0.089	0.002	-0.077	-0.192	-0.049	1	
Log(R&Dexpenses)	0.646	0.249	0.205	0.071	-0.041	-0.253	1

6. VIF (High-tech targets Sub-sample)

TABLE 14 - VIF (High-tech targets Sub-sample, N = 73)

Variance Inflation Factor (VIF). VIF is the ratio of variance in a multiple regression model divided by the variance of a regression model with one term. It is a quantitative measure of how severe multicollinearity is in an OLS regression. VIF values > 10 implies that the model suffers from multicollinearity.

Variables	VIF	1/VIF
Log(R&D expenses)	2.01	0.498
Log(ValueofTransaction)	1.79	0.558
IntangibleAssets/TotalAssets	1.14	0.879
BidPremium	1.12	0.894
TenderorMerger	1.11	0.902
NumberofBidders	1.1	0.911
CashStock	1.07	0.932
Mean VIF	1.33	

7. Value-Weighted country-specific Indexes

Index	Definition
FTSE ALL SHARE	A capitalization-weighted index, comprising around 600 of more than 2,000 companies traded on the London Stock Exchange.
FRANCE CAC 40	A benchmark French stock market index. The index represents a capitalization- weighted measure of the 40 most significant stocks among the 100 largest market caps on the Euronext Paris.
WARSAW GENERAL INDEX	Based on the value of portfolio with shares in 20 major and most liquid companies in the WSE Main List.
IBEX 35	The benchmark stock market index of Spain's principal stock exchange. It is a market capitalization weighted index comprising the 35 most liquid Spanish stocks traded in the Madrid Stock Exchange General Index.
FTSE MIB INDEX	The benchmark stock market index for the Italian national stoc exchange. Superseded the MIB- 30 in September 2004. The index consists of the 40 most-traded stock classes on the exchange.
AEX ALL SHARE	Derived from Amsterdam Exchange index, is a stock marke index composed of Dutch companies that trade on Euronext Amsterdam, formerly known as the Amsterdam Stock Exchange.
SWISS MARKET (SMI)	Switzerland's blue-chip stock market index, which makes it the most important in the country. It is made up of 20 of the largest and most liquid Swiss Performance Index (SPI) large-
	and mid-cap stocks.

TABLE 15 - INDEX DEFINITIONS

OMX COPENHAGEN (OMXC)	The Copenhagen Stock Exchange.
OMX STOCKHOLM (OMXS)	The Stockholm Stock Exchange.
DAX 30 PERFORMANCE	Consists of the 30 major German companies trading on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.
ATHEX COMPOSITE	Athens Stock Exchange is the main Greek stock index. The Athex Composite tracks the performance of the 60 largest Greek companies.
BEL 20	The BEL 20 is the benchmark stock market index of Euronext Brussels. In general, the index consists of a minimum of 10 and a maximum of 20 companies traded at the Brussels Stock Exchange.
OSLO EXCHANGE ALL SHARE	The Oslo Stock Exchange.
MOEX RUSSIA INDEX	The main ruble-denominated benchmark of the Russian stock market.

Note: All variable definitions are retrieved from Thomson Reuters.

10.0 Bibliography

- Alexandridis, G., Fuller, K. P., Terhaar, L., & Travlos, N. G. (2013). Deal size, acquisition premia and shareholder gains. Journal of Corporate Finance, 20, 1-13.
- Amihud, Y., Lev, B., & Travlos, N. G. (1990). Corporate control and the choice of investment financing: The case of corporate acquisitions. *The Journal* of Finance, 45(2), 603-616.
- Amir, E., & Lev, B. (1996). Value-relevance of nonfinancial information: The wireless communications industry. *Journal of accounting and economics*, 22(1-3), 3-30.
- Andrade, G., Mitchell, M., & Stafford, E. (2001). New evidence and perspectives on mergers. *Journal of economic perspectives*, *15*(2), 103-120.
- Basu, S. (1977). Investment Performance of Common Stocks in Relation to Their Price-Earnings Ratios: A Test of the Efficient Market Hypothesis. *The Journal Of Finance*, 32(3), 663. doi: 10.2307/2326304
- Benou, G., & Madura, J. (2005). High-tech acquisitions, firm specific characteristics and the role of investment bank advisors. *The Journal of High Technology Management Research*, 16(1), 101-120.
- Berk, J., & DeMarzo, P. (2017). Corporate finance (4th edition). Harlow: Pearson Education Limited.
- Bessembinder, Kahle, K,H., Maxwell, K.F., Xu, D. (2009). Measuring Abnormal Bond Performance, The Review of Financial Studies, Volume 22, Issue 10, Pages 4219–4258.
- Bradley, M., A. Desai and E. H. Kim (1988). 'Synergistic gains from corporate acquisitions and their division between the stockholders of target and acquiring firms', Journal of Financial Economics, 21, pp. 3-40.

- Brenner, M. (1977). The effect of model misspecification on tests of the efficient market hypothesis. *The Journal of Finance*, *32*(1), 57-66.
- Brooks, C. (2015). *Introductory econometrics for finance*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Brown, S. J., & Warner, J. B. (1985). Using daily stock returns: The case of event studies. Journal of financial economics, 14(1), 3-31.
- Cai, J., & Vijh, A. M. (2007). Incentive effects of stock and option holdings of target and acquirer CEOs. The Journal of Finance, 62(4), 1891-1933.
- Capen, E., Clapp, R., & Campbell, W. (1971). Competitive Bidding in High-Risk Situations. *Journal Of Petroleum Technology*, 23(06), 641-653. http://dx.doi.org/10.2118/2993-pa
- Chan, L. K., Lakonishok, J., & Sougiannis, T. (2001). The stock market valuation of research and development expenditures. *The Journal of Finance*, 56(6), 2431-2456.
- Chang, S. (1998). Takeovers of privately held targets, methods of payment, and bidder returns. The Journal of Finance, 53(2), 773-784.
- Chen, S. S., Chou, R. K., & Lee, Y. C. (2011). Bidders' strategic timing of acquisition announcements and the effects of payment method on target returns and competing bids. Journal of Banking & Finance, 35(9), 2231-2244.
- Comment, R., & Jarrell, G. A. (1987). Two-tier and negotiated tender offers: The imprisonment of the free-riding shareholder. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 19(2), 283-310.
- Cox, J., & Isaac, R. (1984). In search of the winner's curse. *Economic Inquiry*, 22(4), 579-592. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-7295.1984.tb00705.x

- Danbolt, J. (2004). Target company cross-border effects in acquisitions into the UK. European Financial Management 10, 83-108.
- Datta, D. K., Pinches, G. E., & Narayanan, V. K. (1992). Factors influencing wealth creation from mergers and acquisitions: A meta-analysis. Strategic management journal, 13(1), 67-84.
- Davidson III, W. N., & Cheng, L. T. (1997). Target firm returns: does the form of payment affect abnormal returns? Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 24(3), 465-479.
- Eckbo, B. E. (2009). Bidding strategies and takeover premiums: A review. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 15(1), 149-178.
- Erel, I., Liao, R. C., & Weisbach, M. S. (2012). Determinants of cross-border mergers and acquisitions. The Journal of Finance, 67(3), 1045-1082.
- European Commission (2011). EU accounting rule 6: Intangible Assets. Retrieved (21.05.2019) from: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/about_the_european_commission/ eu_budget/eu-accounting-rule-6-intangible-assets_2011_en.pdf
- Faccio, M., & Masulis, R. W. (2005). The choice of payment method in European mergers and acquisitions. The Journal of Finance, 60(3), 1345-1388.
- Fama, E. (1970). Efficient Capital Markets: A Review of Theory and Empirical Work. *The Journal Of Finance*, 25(2), 383. doi: 10.2307/2325486
- Flanagan, D. J., & O'Shaughnessy, K. C. (2003). Core-related acquisitions, multiple bidders and tender offer premiums. *Journal of Business Research*, 56(8), 573-585.

Franks, J. and Harris, R. (1989). Shareholder wealth effects of corporate

takeovers: the U.K. experience 1955-1985. Journal of Financial Economics 23, 225-249.

- Franks, J. R., Harris, R. S., & Mayer, C. (1988). Means of payment in takeovers: Results for the United Kingdom and the United States. In *Corporate takeovers: Causes and consequences* (pp. 221-264). University of Chicago Press.
- Fuller, K., Netter, J., & Stegemoller, M. (2002). What do returns to acquiring firms tell us? Evidence from firms that make many acquisitions. The Journal of Finance, 57(4), 1763-1793.
- Goergen, M., and Renneboog, L. (2004). Shareholder Wealth Effects of European Domestic and Cross Border Takeover Bids. European Financial Management 10, 9-45.
- Gu, F., & Wang, W. (2005). Intangible assets, information complexity, and analysts' earnings forecasts. *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, 32(9-10), 1673-1702.
- Harford, J., Klasa, S. & Walcott, N. (2009), 'Do firms have leverage targets?Evidence from acquisitions', Journal of Financial Economics 93(1), 1–14.
- Higgins, R. C., & Schall, L. D. (1975). Corporate bankruptcy and conglomerate merger. *The Journal of Finance*, 30(1), 93-113.
- Hsu, Y., Hsiao, K., Kim, Y. S., & Song, K. R. (2009). The Relation Among Targets' R&D Activities, Acquirers' Returns, and In-Process R&D in the US. *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, 36(9-10), 1180-1200.
- Institute for Mergers, Acquisitions and Alliances (IMAA). (2019). M&A Statistics – Number and Value and Largest M&A Transactions by Region. Retrieved (05.01.19) from: https://imaa-institute.org/mergers-andacquisitions-statistics/

- Jung, K., Kim, Y. C., & Stulz, R. (1996). Timing, investment opportunities, managerial discretion, and the security issue decision. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 42(2), 159-185.
- Kohers, N., & Kohers, T. (2000). The value creation potential of high-tech mergers. *Financial Analysts Journal*, *56*(3), 40-51.
- Krasker, W. S. (1986). Stock price movements in response to stock issues under asymmetric information. *The journal of Finance*, *41*(1), 93-105.
- Laamanen, T. (2007). On the role of acquisition premium in acquisition research. Strategic Management Journal, 28(13), 1359-1369.
- Lakonishok, J., Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. (1994). Contrarian Investment, Extrapolation, and Risk. *The Journal Of Finance*, 49(5), 1541. doi: 10.2307/2329262
- Lewellen, W. G. (1971). A pure financial rationale for the conglomerate merger. The journal of Finance, 26(2), 521-537.
- Malatesta, P. H. (1983). The wealth effect of merger activity and the objective functions of merging firms. *Journal of financial economics*, *11*(1-4), 155-181.
- Markides, C., & Oyon, D. (1998). International acquisitions:: Do they create value for shareholders?. *European Management Journal*, 16(2), 125-135.
- Martin, K. J. (1996), 'The Method of Payment in Corporate Acquisitions, Investment Opportunities, and Management Ownership', Journal of Finance 51(4), 1227.
- Martynova, M., & Renneboog, L. (2006). Mergers and acquisitions in Europe. Advances in corporate finance and asset pricing, 13-75.

- Moeller, S. B., Schlingemann, F. P., & Stulz, R. M. (2005). Wealth destruction on a massive scale? A study of acquiring-firm returns in the recent merger wave. The journal of finance, 60(2), 757-782.
- Morck, R., Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1990). Do managerial objectives drive bad acquisitions?. The Journal of Finance, 45(1), 31-48.
- Maquieira, C. P., Megginson, W. L., & Nail, L. (1998). Wealth creation versus wealth redistributions in pure stock-for-stock mergers. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 48(1), 3-33.
- Myers, S. C. (1984), 'The Capital Structure Puzzle', The Journal of Finance 39(3), 574–592.
- O'Brien, R. M. (2007). "A Caution Regarding Rules of Thumb for Variance Inflation Factors". Quality & Quantity – International Journal of Methodology, 41(5), 673–690.
- Officer, M, S. (2003). Termination fees in mergers and acquisitions. Journal of Financial Economics. Volume 69, Issue 3, September 2003, Pages 431-467.
- Peterson, P. P. (1989). Event studies: A review of issues and methodology. *Quarterly journal of business and economics*, 36-66.
- Prentice, P., & Fox, M. (2002). Technology firms: The impact of mergers and acquisitions. *International Company and Commercial Law Review*, 13(9), 321-330.
- Roll, R. (1986). The hubris hypothesis of corporate takeovers. *Journal of business*, 197-216.
- Roll, R. (1993). The hubris hypothesis of corporate takeovers. Advances in Behavioral Finance, 437-458.

- SDC Platinum (2012). Quick Start Guide. *Retrieved* (12.12.18) from: https://www.refinitiv.com/
- Servaes, H. (1991). Tobin's Q and the Gains from Takeovers. *The Journal of Finance*, *46*(1), 409-419.
- Seth, A. (1990) a). Sources of value creation in acquisitions: an empirical investigation. *Strategic Management Journal*, *11*(6), 431-446.
- Seth, A. (1990) b). Value creation in acquisitions: A re-examination of performance issues. *Strategic management journal*, 11(2), 99-115.
- Sicherman, N. W., & Pettway, R. H. (1987). Acquisition of divested assets and shareholders' wealth. The Journal of Finance, 42(5), 1261-1273.
- Slovin, M. B., Sushka, M. E., & Polonchek, J. A. (2005). Methods of payment in asset sales: Contracting with equity versus cash. The Journal of Finance, 60(5), 2385-2407.
- Statista (2019). Value of mergers and acquisitions (M&A) worldwide from 2000 to 2018 (in billion U.S. dollars). Retrieved (03.01.2019) from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/267369/volume-of-mergers-andacquisitions-worldwide/
- Stock, J., & Watson, M. (2015). Introduction to Econometrics (3rd ed.). PearsonEducation Limited 2015.
- Suk, D. Y. & Sung, H. M. (1997). The Effects of the Method of Payment and the type of offer on Target Returns in Mergers and Tender Offers. The Financial Review, 32, 591-608.
- Travlos, N. G. (1987). Corporate takeover bids, methods of payment, and bidding firms' stock returns. *The Journal of Finance*, *42*(4), 943-963.

Wansley, J. W., Lane, W. R., & Yang, H. C. (1983). Abnormal returns to acquired

firms by type of acquisition and method of payment. Financial management, 16-22.

- Wansley, J. W., Lane, W. R., & Yang, H. C. (1987). Gains to bidder firms in cash and securities transactions. Financial Review, 22(4), 403-414.
- Varaiya, N., & Ferris, K. (1987). Overpaying in Corporate Takeovers: The Winner's Curse. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 43(3), 64-70. http://dx.doi.org/10.2469/faj.v43.n3.64
- Wruck, K. H. (1989). Equity ownership concentration and firm value: Evidence from private equity financings. Journal of Financial economics, 23(1), 3-28.